STATE OF WISCONSIN

COURT OF APPEALS

CLERK OF COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

DISTRICT I

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v. Case No. 2016AP1045-CR Case No. 2016AP1046-CR Case No. 2016AP1047-CR Case No. 2016AP1048-CR Case No. 2016AP1048-CR

TERRANCE L. EGERSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON NOTICE OF APPEAL FROM JUDGMENT OF CONVICTION ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MEL FLANAGAN, PRESIDING, AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHELLE A. HAVAS, PRESIDING

BRIEF AND APPENDIX OF DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

PARKER C. MATHERS Attorney at Law State Bar No. 1079339

Attorney for Defendant-Appellant

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

I. Whether the defendant-appellant's trial counsel provided ineffective assistance of counsel when counsel did not move dismiss the domestic abuse repeaters that were not supported by the facts in the complaints.

The circuit court found that defendant-appellant's trial counsel was not ineffective.

II. Whether the domestic abuse repeaters applied to defendantappellant's charges where applied in error and violated Egerson's fundamental right to due process.

The circuit court found that the domestic abuse repeaters were not applied in error.

POSITION ON ORAL ARGUMENT AND PUBLICATION

Counsel does not request oral argument. Publication may be appropriate to reinforce what constitutes the statutory definition of domestic abuse.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

On March 22, 2013, Egerson called his wife, A.E., on the phone from the Milwaukee County Jail. (45R2).¹ On that date Egerson was serving an imposed and stayed jail sentence on either case 11CM5728 or

¹ This brief cites to the record contained in 2016AP1045 as "45_", in 2016AP1046 as "46_", in 2016AP1047 as "47_", in 2016AP1048 as "48_" and in 2016AP1049 as "49_". When citing to documents that are contained in all files, this brief will use "45_" as a reference

11CM7406. (45R31:10; 45R34:6) This is based on Egerson's probation being revoked on both cases prior to March 22, 2013 and the sentences were consecutive to each other. (45R31:2; 46R2:4).

The sentences in Milwaukee County cases 11CM5728 and 11CM7406 ordered Egerson to have no contact with A.E. pursuant to Wis. Stat. § 973.055(1), (45R2). On March 15, 2013, A.E. obtained a temporary restraining order against Egerson in Milwaukee County case 13FA1617. (45R2). It is not clear from the record if Egerson was properly served with the temporary restraining order, and therefore, had knowledge of the restraining order.

Based on Egerson's March 22, 2013, phone conversation with his wife the State charged Egerson in case 13CF1401 with three misdemeanor charges: one count of violation of a domestic abuse temporary restraining order, and two counts of intentionally contact victim. (45R2). The complaint did not incorporate the complaints from case 11CM5728 or case 11CM7406. (45R2:3)

The complaint in 13CF1401 stated that "on March 22, the defendant caller her [A.E.] and repeatedly accused her of 'fucking' another man." (45R2:3). On March 22, 2016, Officer Peter Graber was present with A.E. during her phone conversation with Egerson. (45R40:6). Officer Graber testified at the preliminary hearing that, "He [Egerson] asked [A.E.] is it over between us or what do you--what exactly want. At which time she [A.E.] replied I want you to leave me alone and let me get on with my life."

(45R40:7). The criminal complaint does not contain any facts that Egerson's phone conversation with A.E. caused A.E. to be fearful. (45R2).

The State charged the phone conversation as an act of "domestic abuse" as defined by Wis. Stat. § $968.075(1)(a)^2$ and invoked Wis. Stat. § 939.621 - "domestic abuse repeater" – which increased the term of imprisonment and changed the status of each charge from a misdemeanor to a felony. (45R2). A condition of Egerson's bond in 13CF1401 was to have no contact with A.E. (45R4). At no point prior to Egerson pleading guilty did trial counsel move to dismiss one of the intentionally contact victim charges as not supported by fact because Egerson was only serving one sentence on March 22, 2013, when Egerson contacted A.E. once.

On April 17, 2013, Egerson, while in the Milwaukee County jail, had another phone conversation with his wife. (46R2). Based on this phone conversation the State charged Egerson in case 13CF1860 with one count of violation of a domestic abuse injunction, one count felony bail jumping and one count of intentionally contact victim and invoked Wis. Stat. § 939.621 - "domestic abuse repeater" on each charge. (46R2).

The complaint states, "[Egerson] was asking A.E. who was watching the children and was inquiring about paying bills. A.E. reported that the defendant was being extremely condescending and was talking down to her. A.E. informed the defendant that he was not to be calling her and disconnected the call" (46R2:3). A.E. knew Egerson was in custody at the jail at the time of their phone conversation. (46R2:3). The complaint does

² All references to the Wisconsin Statutes are to the 2013-14

version unless otherwise noted.

not contain any facts that Egerson's phone conversation with A.E. caused A.E. to be fearful. (46R2). The complaint incorporated by reference the judgment of convictions from 11CM5728 and 11CM7406. (46R2).

On April 17, 2013, the date that Egerson allegedly committed the bail jumping charge in 13CF1860, Egerson was not released from custody on bond in case 13CF1401. (45R1:1) From January 7, 2013 to June 20, 2013, Egerson was continuously in custody. (45R33:6). At no point prior to Egerson pleading guilty did trial counsel move to dismiss the bail jumping charge. Egerson's bond in case 13CF1860 ordered no contact with A.E. (46R3).

On May 26, 2013, Egerson, while in the Milwaukee County jail, had a phone conversation with his wife and on July 1, 2013, Egerson, while out of custody, had a phone conversation with his wife. (47R2). Based on these two phone conversations the State charged Egerson in case 13CF3152 with two counts of violation of a domestic abuse injunction and two counts felony bail jumping. And invoked Wis. Stat. § 939.621 – "domestic abuse repeater" – on each count. (47R2). On July 1, 2013, Egerson was out custody on bond in cases 13CF1401 and 13CF1860.

The complaint in 13CF3152 contains a portion of the transcript from the May 26, 2013 phone conversation. (47R2:4-5). In the complaint A.E. stated, "that the majority of their conversations revolved around their children and their household matter along with his [Egerson's] subtle attempts to get her to not come to court so the charges would be dropped..." (47R2:4). The complaint does not contain any allegation that Egerson's May 26, 2013, phone conversation with A.E. caused A.E. to be fearful. (47R2).

The complaint also contains a statement from A.E. that she had a phone conversation with Egerson on July 1, 2013 and she recorded the conversation. (47R2:4). The complaint does not contain the substance of the July 1, 2013 phone conversation. (47R2:4). The complaint does not contain any allegation that Egerson's July 1, 2013, phone conversation with A.E. caused A.E. to be fearful. (47R2).

On July 18, 2013, Egerson had a phone conversation with his mother from the Milwaukee County jail and on July 21, 2013, Egerson had a phone conversation with his wife from the Milwaukee County jail. (48R2). Based on these phone conversations the State charged Egerson in case 13CF3435 with one count of felony intimidation of a victim, one count violation of a domestic abuse injunction and two counts felony bail jumping and the State invoked Wis. Stat. § 939.621 – "domestic abuse repeater" – on each charge. (48R2). The complaint contains partial transcripts of the phone calls. (48R2:4-6). On July 21, 2013, Egerson was out of custody on bond cases 13CF1401 and 13CF1860. (48R2).

Egerson's July 21, 2013, phone conversation with his wife lasted 16 minutes. The complaint contained a transcript of the phone conversation, which contained the following:

"07/21/13 at 10:19 AM to 414-242-366 from CCFC Unit 6b E=Terrance Egerson (defendant) A=Alexandra Egerson (victim) E: what will be the wrong with doing- I'm not going to hurt you, because I know the laws. I know what the laws entail. And I'm in this situation-

A: Guess what, you knew law seven years ago, sir, you sure did. You knew the law seven years ago.

E: Yes, I did.

A: That was it- the law isn't brand knew. You didn't even care about the law. Every time you touched me you didn't care, because you always knew she wasn't going to do anything.

E: But you know what?

A: But, now I'm doing something. Now, it's not that you know the law, it's now you know you can't punk me.

E: But- but you know what? You know what? I'm in here for not touching you. I'm not in here for harming you.

A: That has nothing! Ok, you know what? That's your problem. You feel like domestic violence isn't only touching. No, you're still- you harass, and that falls under abuse, sir!

E: So what you're saying is that- what you're saying is-

A: Just because you haven't done a physical thing to me since last year does not mean that you still aren't abusive.

E: But what have I done abusive to you? I haven't abused you, man! I haven't abused you! I haven't.

A: Ok."

(R48R2:5).

•••

The complaint does not contain any allegation that Egerson's phone conversation with A.E. caused A.E. to be fearful. (47R2).

On October 9, 2013, Egerson while in the Milwaukee County jail had a phone conversation with his wife. (49R2). Based on this phone conversation the State charged Egerson in case 14CF189 with one count violation of a domestic abuse injunction and one count felony bail jumping and the State invoked Wis. Stat. § 939.621 - "domestic abuse repeater" on the violation of a domestic abuse injunction count. (49R2). On October 9, 2013, Egerson was released from custody on bond in case 13CF3152 with the condition of having no contact with his wife. (49R2). The complaint states "A.E. reported that the defendant had been calling her through other inmates having them call her and he would he would yell in the background to the inmate on the phone who would relay the message to A.E." (49R2:2). The criminal complaint does not contain the substance of the phone conversation. (49R2). The complaint does not contain any allegation that Egerson's conversation with A.E. caused A.E. to be fearful. (49R2).

On February 10, 2014, the circuit court consolidated the above captioned cases and scheduled the cases for a final pretrial conference and a jury trial. On April 21, 2014, Egerson's trial counsel filed a motion to dismiss the penalty enhancers. Trial counsel argued that because Egerson's two predicate domestic abuse assessments occurred before the legislature enacted Wis. Stat. § 939.621 that the repeater was not applicable to Egerson. (45R17). The Court denied the motion. (45R46:13). At no point

did Egerson's trial counsel object to the domestic abuse repeaters as not being supported by the facts alleged in the complaints.

On the day of trial Egerson resolved all the cases with a change of plea. As part of the plea negotiation Egerson agreed to plea guilty to four misdemeanor charges and two felony bail jumping charges; the State agreed to dismiss and read-in the remaining charges, dismiss the domestic abuse repeaters and recommend a sentence of 5-7 years initial confinement and 5-7 years extended supervision. (45R:47:8).

After the guilty pleas the Court adjourned the cases for sentencing. Prior to sentencing Egerson moved the Court to withdraw his guilty pleas. (45R22). Egerson's trial attorney withdrew and Egerson was appointed a new attorney. The circuit court denied Egerson's motion to withdraw his pleas. (45R48:11).

On November 25, 2014, the Court sentenced Egerson. On the twofelony bail jumping charges the court sentenced Egerson to a total of ten years in the Wisconsin State prison system broken down to five years initial confinement and five years extended supervision. (48R33:49) On the misdemeanor charges the court sentenced Egerson to 22 months and one day jail consecutive to the bail jumping sentences. (48R33:47-48). At the sentencing the court noted, "everyone does agree that these are not offenses of physical violence." (48R33:42-43).

On February 2, 2016, Egerson filed a postconviction motion and requested an evidentiary hearing. (R45:31). The circuit court denied

Egerson's postconviction claims without holding an evidentiary hearing. (R45:36)

ARGUMENT

- I. TRIAL COUNSEL WAS INEFFECTIVE WHEN COUNSEL DID NOT OBJECT TO THE INAPPROPRIATE DOMESTIC ABUSE REPEATERS AS CHARGED IN THE CRIMINAL COMPLAINTS.
 - A. INTRODUCTION AND STANDARD OF REVIEW.

A defendant is entitled to withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing only upon a showing of "manifest injustice" by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). A defendant meets the "manifest injustice" test if the defendant was denied the effective assistance of counsel. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 311.

Egerson must satisfy a two-prong test for an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). First, Egerson must show that counsel's performance was deficient. *Id.* Second, Egerson must show that his attorneys' deficiency was prejudicial. *Id.* at 687.

A postconviction *Machner³* hearing is necessary to sustain a claim of ineffective assistance. A trial court may deny a postconviction motion without a hearing "if the motion does not raise facts sufficient to entitle the movant to relief, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record

³ State v. Machner, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804; 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979).

conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief." *State v. Allen*, 2004 WI 106, ¶9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433.

Whether a defendant's postconviction motion alleges sufficient facts to entitle the defendant to a hearing for the relief requested is a mixed standard of review. First, the reviewing court determines de novo whether the motion on its face alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 309-10. If the motion raises such facts, the circuit court must hold an evidentiary hearing. *Id.* at 310; *Nelson v. State*, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972). However, if the motion does not raise facts sufficient to entitle the movant to relief, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the circuit court has the discretion to grant or deny a hearing. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 310-11; *Nelson*, 54 Wis. 2d at 497-98. This Court reviews a circuit court's discretionary decisions under the deferential erroneous exercise of discretion standard. *Bentley*, 201 Wis. 2d at 311.

B. TRIAL COUNSEL'S PERFORMANCE WAS DEFICIENT BECAUSE COUNSEL DID NOT MOVE TO DISMISS THE INAPPROPRIATE DOMESTIC ABUSE REPEATERS.

Egerson's trial counsel was deficient when counsel did not move to dismiss the domestic abuse repeaters because the facts alleged in the criminal complaints were not sufficient to support the repeaters.

The reviewing court examines the complaint to determine whether the complaint contains facts or reasonable inferences from the facts that are sufficient to allow a reasonable person to conclude that a crime was probably committed and that the defendant probably committed it." *State v. Reed*, 2005 WI 53, ¶12, 280 Wis. 2d 68, 695 N.W.2d 315. Based on the facts alleged in the complaints in this case and the reasonable inferences from those facts Egerson is left wondering why he was charged as a domestic abuse repeater. The answer to this question can be found in the facts that tend to prove the elements of the offense. *State v. Gaudesi*, 112 Wis.2d 213, 220. This requires an analysis of the facts alleged in the complaints of domestic abuse repeater.

The domestic abuse repeater statute, Wis Stat. § 939.621(2) reads as follows:

"(2) If a person commits an act of domestic abuse, as defined in Wis. Stat. § 968.075 (1) (a) and the act constitutes the commission of a crime, the maximum term of imprisonment for that crime may be increased by not more than 2 years if the person is a domestic abuse repeater. The victim of the domestic abuse crime does not have to be the same as the victim of the domestic abuse incident that resulted in the prior arrest or conviction. The penalty increase under this section changes the status of a misdemeanor to a felony."

Next, the court must determine what constitutes "domestic abuse." Relevant to these cases Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a) defines "domestic abuse," as follows:

"(1) DEFINITIONS. In this section:

- (a) Domestic abuse means any of the following engaged in by an adult person against his or her spouse or former spouse...:
- 1. Intentional infliction of physical pain, physical injury or illness.
- 2. Intentional impairment of physical condition.
- A violation of Wis. Stat. § 940.225 (1), (2) or (3).
- 4. A physical act that may cause the other person reasonably to fear imminent engagement in the conduct described under subd. 1., 2. or 3."

Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a).

A review of the statutory definition of domestic abuse shows that the underlying crimes in the complaints are not acts of domestic abuse. For the underlying crimes to be acts of domestic abuse the complaint must contain facts and related inferences that fit the crimes stated in subparts 1. through 4. Comparing the facts in the complaints with the crimes listed in Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a)1.-4. reveals that: (1) there is no allegation that Egerson intentionally inflicted physical pain, physical injury or illness; (2) there is no allegation that Egerson intentionally impaired A.E.'s physical condition; (3) no sexual assault is alleged; and (4) there is no physical act by Egerson and it would not have been reasonable for A.E. to fear imminent engagement in any of the conduct described in Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a)1., 2., or 3. by Egerson.

The plain language of Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a)4 requires that the defendant engage in a "physical act" against the victim to be an act of domestic abuse. "All words and phrases shall be construed according to common and approved usage; but technical words and phrases and others that have a peculiar meaning in the law shall be construed according to such meaning." Wis. Stat. § 990.01(1).

Nowhere in the statutes does "physical act" have a special definitional meaning; therefore, physical act is given its common meaning. Physical is defined as: "having material existence." *Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary* 877 (10th ed. 1993). Act is defined as: "the doing of a thing." *Merriam Webster's Collegiate Dictionary* 11 (10th ed. 1993). Thus, "physical act" means the doing of a thing having material existence, i.e., a thing that can be seen and felt. There is no material existence to Egerson's oral communication with A.E. Thus, Egerson never engaged in any physical act against A.E. A.E. even acknowledged in the complaint of in case 13CF3435 that Egerson has not done anything physical. (R48R2:5).

Another reason Egerson did not commit domestic abuse is that Egerson's oral communication with A.E. did not cause A.E. to reasonably fear imminent engagement by Egerson in any of the conduct described in Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a)1., 2., or 3. Egerson's oral communication with A.E. would did not cause A.E. to reasonably fear that Egerson would engage in the conduct described under Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a)1-3, let alone engage in that conduct imminently.

The facts alleged in the complaints in these cases are similar to the facts alleged in *State v. O'Boyle*⁴. In *O'Boyle* the facts in the complaint did not support that the underlying crime was an act of domestic abuse as defined in Wis. Stat. § 968.075; therefore, the court vacated the domestic abuse surcharge. *State v. O'Boyle*, 13-AP-1004, ¶24.

In *O'Boyle*, the court acknowledged that the facts in the complaint may have caused the mother of the defendant's child to be frightened by the defendant's underlying criminal conduct; however, it would not have been reasonable for her to fear *imminent* engagement in any of the conduct described in Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a)1., 2., or 3., because the defendant never entered her home, never threatened her and no conversation between the two took place. *O'Boyle*, 13-AP-1004, ¶23(Court's emphasis).

The same conclusion is reached in Egerson's case. When the verbal contact between Egerson and A.E. occurred Egerson was in jail all but one time. And unlike the victim in *O'Boyle*, who was scared and frightened, *O'Boyle*, 13-AP-1004, ¶3. In these cases A.E. was never scared, frightened or fearful because Egerson never threatened A.E. Rather the conversations between A.E. and Egerson ranged from mundane –

"... the majority of their conversations revolved around their children and their household matter along with his [Egerson's] subtle attempts to get her to not come to court so the charges would be dropped..."

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