#### **RECEIVED**

#### STATE OF WISCONSIN

01-27-2017

COURT OF APPEALS OF WISCONSIN

#### DISTRICT I

Case Nos. 2016AP1045-CR, 2016AP1046-CR, 2016AP1047-CR, 2016AP1048-CR, 2016AP1049-CR

STATE OF WISCONSIN,

Plaintiff-Respondent,

v.

TERRANCE LAVONE EGERSON,

Defendant-Appellant.

ON APPEAL FROM JUDGMENTS OF CONVICTION AND SENTENCE ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MEL FLANAGAN, PRESIDING, AND ORDER DENYING POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE CIRCUIT COURT FOR MILWAUKEE COUNTY, THE HONORABLE MICHELLE A. HAVAS, PRESIDING

## BRIEF AND SUPPLEMENTAL APPENDIX OF PLAINTIFF-RESPONDENT

BRAD D. SCHIMEL Wisconsin Attorney General

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

#### ARGUMENT

I. Egerson failed to prove manifest injustice entitling him to withdraw his pleas after sentencing because he did not show that trial counsel provided ineffective assistance.

#### A. Legal principles.

To withdraw a guilty plea after sentencing, "a defendant must show by clear and convincing evidence that a refusal to allow withdrawal of the plea would result in manifest injustice." State v. Dillard, 2014 WI 123, ¶ 36, 358 Wis. 2d 543, 859 N.W.2d 44. In other words, the defendant must show that there are "serious questions affecting the fundamental integrity of the plea." State v. Denk, 2008 WI 130 ¶ 71, 315 Wis. 2d 5, 758 N.W.2d 775. The defendant has the burden to prove manifest injustice. Dillard, 358 Wis. 2d 543, ¶ 36.

A defendant can demonstrate manifest injustice by showing that he received ineffective assistance of trial counsel. State v. Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d 303, 311, 548 N.W.2d 50 (1996). The two-pronged test of Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668 (1984), "applies to challenges to guilty pleas based on ineffective assistance of counsel." Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 311–12. If a defendant premises his plea withdrawal motion on ineffective assistance of counsel, he must allege (and ultimately prove) that he would not have pleaded guilty but for counsel's ineffectiveness. See State v. Krawczyk, 2003 WI App 6, ¶¶ 28–29, 259 Wis. 2d 843, 657 N.W.2d 77.

Under the *Strickland* test, a defendant must prove that counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficient performance prejudiced the defense. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687.

To establish deficient performance, the defendant must identify specific acts or omissions of counsel "outside the wide range of professionally competent assistance" demanded of attorneys in criminal practice. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 690. The client must demonstrate that his attorney made serious mistakes that could not be justified under an *objective* standard of reasonable professional judgment. *See id.* at 688. An attorney does not perform deficiently by failing to make a meritless argument. *State v. Toliver*, 187 Wis. 2d 346, 360, 523 N.W.2d 113 (Ct. App. 1994).

To satisfy the prejudice prong, the defendant must "offer more than rank speculation." State v. Erickson, 227 Wis. 2d 758, 774, 596 N.W.2d 749 (1999). He must show "reasonable probability but for counsel's that. unprofessional errors, the result of the proceeding would have been different." Strickland, 466 U.S. at 694. "Showing prejudice means showing that counsel's alleged errors actually had some adverse effect on the defense." State v. Koller, 2001 WI App 253, ¶ 9, 248 Wis. 2d 259, 635 N.W.2d 838 (emphasis added). "The defendant cannot meet this burden by simply showing that an error had some conceivable effect on the outcome." Id. (emphasis added).

A postconviction *Machner* hearing is a prerequisite to appellate review of an ineffective assistance of counsel claim. *State v. Curtis*, 218 Wis. 2d 550, 554, 582 N.W.2d 409 (Ct. App. 1998) (explaining *State v. Machner*, 92 Wis. 2d 797, 804, 285 N.W.2d 905 (Ct. App. 1979)). If a postconviction motion "alleges sufficient material facts that, if true, would entitle the defendant to relief . . . the circuit court *must* hold

an evidentiary hearing." State v. Allen, 2004 WI 106, ¶ 9, 274 Wis. 2d 568, 682 N.W.2d 433 (emphasis added) (internal citations omitted). A circuit court, in its discretion, may deny the motion without a hearing

"if the defendant fails to allege sufficient facts in his motion to raise a question of fact, or presents only conclusory allegations, or if the record conclusively demonstrates that the defendant is not entitled to relief, the trial court may in the exercise of its legal discretion deny the motion without a hearing."

Bentley, 201 Wis. 2d at 309–10 (quoting State v. Nelson, 54 Wis. 2d 489, 497–98, 195 N.W.2d 629 (1972)).

On appeal, "[t]he issue of whether a person was deprived of the constitutional right to the effective assistance of counsel presents a mixed question of law and fact." State v. Mayo, 2007 WI 78, ¶ 32, 301 Wis. 2d 642, 734 N.W.2d 115 (citations omitted). The circuit court's findings of fact will be upheld unless they are clearly erroneous; whether counsel's performance was deficient and prejudicial to the defense presents a question of law reviewable de novo. Id. The court's decision on whether a postconviction motion contained a sufficient factual basis warranting an evidentiary hearing is reviewed for erroneous exercise of discretion. See Allen, 274 Wis. 2d 568, ¶ 34.

- B. Trial counsel was not ineffective because he did not move to dismiss the domestic abuse penalty enhancers.
  - 1. Trial counsel did not perform deficiently by not moving to dismiss the domestic abuse penalty enhancers.

Egerson argues that his trial counsel performed deficiently by not moving to dismiss the domestic abuse enhancers from his complaints before the entry of his guilty pleas. He contends that the enhancers were not supported by sufficient facts in the complaints. His argument fails because the complaints did plead sufficient facts.

The test for the sufficiency of a complaint is one of "minimal adequacy." State v. Olson, 75 Wis. 2d 575, 581, 250 N.W.2d 12 (1977). A complaint need only "set forth facts that are sufficient, in themselves or with the reasonable inferences to which they give rise, to allow a reasonable person to conclude that a crime was probably committed and that the defendant is probably culpable." State v. Kempainen, 2015 WI 32, ¶ 16, 361 Wis. 2d 450, 862 N.W.2d 587. A complaint satisfies this threshold and establishes probable cause if it answers five questions: "(1) Who is being charged?; (2) What is the person charged with?; (3) When and where did the alleged offense take place?; (4) Why is this particular person being charged?; and (5) Who says so?" State v. Gaudesi, 112 Wis. 2d 213, 220, 332 N.W.2d 302 (1983) (citations omitted).

Gaudesi's fourth Here. Egerson asserts that question—why he was charged as a domestic abuse repeater—was not answered by the complaints. (Egerson's Br. 11.) The circuit court found that all five complaints did state probable cause because each described conduct by constituted Egerson that domestic abuse. Egerson's with from disagreement that finding stems his interpretation of Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1), which defines domestic abuse.

Section 968.075 (1)(a) defines domestic abuse as follows:

(a) "Domestic abuse" means any of the following engaged in by an adult person against his or her spouse or former spouse, against an adult with whom the person resides or formerly resided or against an adult with whom the person has a child in common:

- 1. Intentional infliction of physical pain, physical injury or illness.
- 2. Intentional impairment of physical condition.
  - 3. A violation of § 940.225(1), (2) or (3).<sup>13</sup>
- 4. A physical act that may cause the other person reasonably to fear imminent engagement in the conduct described under subd. 1., 2. or 3.

Subsection 968.075(1)(a)4. applies to this case.

Under the applicable subsection, an act must meet two criteria to constitute domestic abuse. First, the offender must perform a physical act. Second (as relevant here), that act must cause the victim reasonably to fear that the offender will imminently engage in conduct that would inflict pain, injury, or impairment of her physical condition. Egerson argues that his phone calls to A.E. met neither of these criteria.

Egerson asserts that a phone call is not a "physical act" within the meaning of the statute. (Egerson's Br. 13.) This argument is without merit. Egerson correctly notes that all words and phrases in the Wisconsin Statutes "shall be construed according to common and approved usage." Wis. Stat. § 990.01(1). But he unduly limits the meaning of the term "physical act." "Physical" is defined as "of or relating to the body." "Act" is defined as "the process of doing or performing something." 15 Every time he picked up a telephone and dialed A.E.'s telephone number to call her, Egerson used his "body" to "do[] or perform[] something," i.e.,

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>13</sup> *I.e.*, first-, second-, and third-degree sexual assault.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>14</sup> Physical, <u>The American Heritage Dictionary</u> (5th ed. 2011).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>15</sup> Act, The American Heritage Dictionary.

to call A.E. Therefore, every time he called A.E., Egerson performed a physical act.

Egerson further contends that the statute requires "a 'physical act' *against* the victim" and that the phone calls were not physical acts "against" A.E. (Egerson's Br. 13 (emphasis added).) The State notes that the word "against" does not appear in the statute. Moreover, if there were an "against" requirement in the statute, it would be satisfied by Egerson's harassing and forbidden phone calls to A.E.

Beyond the phone calls, the preliminary hearing in Case 13CF1401 included testimony that Egerson committed physical acts in addition to the phone calls. This testimony may cure the alleged factual deficiencies in the criminal complaint. See State v. Higgs, 230 Wis. 2d 1, 13, 601 N.W.2d 653 (Ct. App. 1999). A.E.'s co-worker, Derrick Peterson, told police that Egerson came to A.E.'s place of employment and slashed Peterson's car tires. (48R33:9–10.) Even Egerson must admit that this behavior constitutes a "physical act."

The facts of this case are similar to those in *State v*. *Bandy*, 2014 WI App 120, 358 Wis. 2d 712, 856 N.W.2d 347 (unpublished) (R. App. 101-05),  $^{16}$  in which this Court assumed that sending text messages in violation of a nocontact order constituted an act of domestic abuse. *Id*.  $\P$  30–31. If text messages can satisfy the domestic abuse statute, telephone calls can also satisfy it.

Even if the phone calls were "physical acts," according to Egerson, they did not constitute "domestic abuse" because they "did not cause A.E. to reasonably fear imminent

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>16</sup> State v. Bandy, an unpublished opinion authored by a single judge under Wis. Stat. § 751.31(2), is cited for its persuasive value only. See Wis. Stat. § 809.23(3)(b). It is included in the appendix to this brief. See id. at (3)(c).

engagement by Egerson in any of the conduct described in Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a)1–3." (Egerson's Br. 13.)

Egerson's "imminent" conduct against her because he was in jail when he made the calls, because they did not contain any overt threats, and because Egerson had not physically abused A.E. recently. (Egerson's Br. 13–16.) Egerson does not deny that he has physically abused A.E. in the past.

The statute provides that a physical act constitutes domestic abuse if it "may cause the other person reasonably to fear imminent engagement in the conduct" specified in the statute. Wis. Stat. § 968.075(1)(a)4. "The word 'may' is ordinarily used to grant permission or to indicate possibility. Accordingly, when interpreting a statute, we generally construe the word 'may' as permissive." Heritage Farms, Inc. v. Markel Ins. Co., 2012 WI 26, ¶ 32, 339 Wis. 2d 125, 810 N.W.2d 465, (internal citations omitted) Therefore, here, the physical act committed by the defendant need not cause actual fear in the victim, as long as it "may cause [her] reasonably to fear imminent" harmful conduct.

From A.E.'s perspective, each and every call from Egerson could reasonably cause her to fear for her physical safety. Although he was in jail when he made most of these calls, A.E. could not be certain that she was safe from physical harm. Indeed, when Egerson made the calls charged in Case 13CF1401, he was being released from the House of Corrections three days a week as part of the Huber work release program. (48R33:10.) And, when he made the calls on July 1, 2013, charged in 13CF3152, he was not in custody. (45R10, 13.) Case 13CF3435 was based on Egerson's use of his mother to make threatening phone calls to A.E. (48R2.) With this precedent, A.E. could reasonably fear that Egerson might take the next step and ask someone

on the outside to harm her physically, just as he had asked someone on the outside to threaten her by telephone.

Egerson was unrelenting and unpredictable. He was an expert at circumventing the restrictions placed on him. He was not allowed to call A.E. from jail, but nevertheless found ways to get around that by having other inmates call her while he yelled in the background, and by using the jail's "attorneys only" phone to call her. (46R33:19; 49R2.) Previously, when A.E. changed her phone number to protect herself from Egerson's calls, he found out what her new number was and called her dozens of times. (45R33:Ex. F.) A.E. could reasonably fear anything from Egerson. After all, as A.E. recounted, "[i]n the past he has hit me, punched me, pulled a gun on me, tried to light me on fire, kicked me, [and] hit me with different objects." (45R33:Ex. F.)

Again, Bandy is instructive. There, this Court agreed with the State that it was necessary to look at the context of Bandy's relationship with his former girlfriend to determine whether the text messages he sent her could reasonably cause her to fear imminent physical harm. 2014 WI App 120,  $\P 30-31$ . The Court noted that the texts, sent in violation of two no-contact orders, "demonstrated a disregard for the court's orders and indicated that he was not going to leave [her] alone." Id.  $\P 31$ . The Court concluded that "[g]iven Bandy's history of violence against [the former girlfriend], the texts reasonably may have caused her to fear more imminent physical harm." Id.

Given Egerson's history of violence against A.E., and the multiple no-contact orders entered against him, a phone call from Egerson may have reasonably caused A.E. to fear imminent physical harm. A.E. filed a petition for a restraining order against Egerson in March 2013 because, despite his being in custody, he continued to harass her. (45R33:Ex. F.) A.E., the past victim of his abuse, could

reasonably see Egerson's phone calls accusing her of "fucking' another man" and warning "don't lie to me, you know what I'm capable of," as more than empty threats. (45R2:3; 45R33:Ex. F.)

Egerson relies on *State v. O'Boyle*, 2014 WI App 38, 353 Wis. 2d 305, 844 N.W.2d 666 (unpublished) (A. App. 119–30), to support his interpretation of the "reasonably... fear" requirement. The facts of this case have little in common with *O'Boyle*. O'Boyle and K.E. lived together. One evening, K.E. told O'Boyle to leave. He went to a tavern and became intoxicated. In the early hours of the morning O'Boyle returned to their home, and, unable to find the spare key, threw rocks at the windows and climbed onto the roof. K.E. called the police. O'Boyle was charged with disorderly conduct as an act of domestic abuse. *Id.* ¶ 5.

On appeal, this Court found that O'Boyle's conduct was not an act of domestic abuse because his actions were not directed at another person. Rather, he was a drunk man "attempting to enter the house where he resided." *Id.* ¶ 25. The opinion does not mention any abusive history between O'Boyle and K.E. Moreover, O'Boyle's conduct did not violate any court orders. In contrast, Egerson had a history of abusing A.E., which led to a series of restraining orders against him, which he repeatedly violated.

These complaints pled sufficient facts to justify the inclusion of the domestic abuse repeater enhancers. Therefore, any motion to dismiss the enhancers would have failed. An attorney does not perform deficiently by failing to make a meritless argument. See Toliver, 187 Wis. 2d at 360. Accordingly, Egerson's ineffectiveness argument fails the first prong of the Strickland test.

## 2. Even if deficient, trial counsel's performance did not prejudice Egerson's defense.

To satisfy the second prong of the *Strickland* test, a defendant who accepted a plea deal must show "a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's errors, he would not have pleaded guilty and would have insisted on going to trial." *Hill v. Lockhart*, 474 U.S. 52 (1985). Nowhere in his brief does Egerson even suggest that he would have gone to trial but for counsel's failure to dismiss the domestic abuse repeater enhancers. Indeed, given his total sentencing exposure (not including the domestic abuse enhancers), it is highly improbable that anyone in Egerson's position would have chosen trial over the relatively favorable sentence he received in these consolidated cases. *See supra* at 11–12.

Egerson's brief downplays the only thing about the domestic abuse repeater enhancers that matters: they were dismissed. At the plea hearing, the State moved to dismiss all the repeater charges. (45R47:2–8.) Thus, the majority of Egerson's argument for why he should be allowed to withdraw his pleas is dedicated to contesting elements of the complaints to which he did not plead guilty.

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